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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.

Procedure for the 2023 General Shareholders’ Meeting
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Call the Meeting to Order
Chairperson Takes Chair
Chairperson’s Address
Reports on Company Affairs
Matters to be Ratified
Elections

Other Motions

Ad Hoc Motions
Adjournment



Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.

Agenda of the 2023 General Shareholders’ Meeting

Method: Physical shareholders’ meeting
Time: 9:00 am, Tuesday, June 20, 2023
Venue: Ballroom of Grand Victoria Hotel at 1F (No. 168, Jingye 4th Rd., Taipei City)

I.  Chairman’s Address
II. Reports on Company Affairs
(I) Business Report of the Company for 2022
(IT) Audit Committee’s review of 2022 financial statements and reports
(IIT) Distribution of 2022 remuneration to Directors and employees
[II. Matters to be Ratified
(I) 2022 Financial statements of the Company
(IT) 2022 Earnings Distribution of the Company
IV. Elections

(I) Comprehensive re-election of 7 Directors (Including 4 Independent Directors) for the 11th

Meeting of the Board of Directors
V. Other Motions

(I) The Motion for Termination of the Non-Competition Restriction Imposed on New Directors

and Their Representatives
VI. Ad Hoc Motions

VII. Adjournment



[. Reports on Company Affairs

Motion 1

Proposal:

Description:

Motion 2

Proposal:

Description:

Motion 3

Proposal:

Description:

L.

II.

I1I.

IV.

Business Report of the Company for 2022.
Please refer to Pages 5-7 of the Meeting Handbook.

Audit Committee’s review of the 2022 financial statements and reports.
Please refer to Page 8 of the Meeting Handbook.

Distribution of 2022 Remuneration to Directors and Employees.

The Company’s distribution of 2022 remuneration to Directors and employees was
approved by the Board of Directors on March 9, 2023.

Remuneration for Directors: NTD 34,700,000.

Remuneration for employees: NTD 173,571,908, subject to the Articles of
Incorporation.

The amount of remuneration for directors was reduced by NT$14,382 against the
expenses recognized in 2022. The difference will be recognized as the profit or loss
in 2023.

For the remuneration policy of directors, details and amounts of individual

remunerations, please refer to Page 9 of the Meeting Handbook.

II. Matters to be Ratified

Motion 1:

Proposal:

Description: 1.

Resolution:

Motion 2:

Proposal:

II.

Description: 1.

II.

I1I.

Submitted by the Board of Directors

Approval for the Company’s 2022 financial statements.

The Company’s 2022 Financial Statements of the Company have been audited and
certified by CPAs Lin Yi-Fan and Yen Yu-fun, from PwC Taiwan.

The aforementioned statements and the external auditors’ report are attached hereto.
For details, please refer to Pages 10-34 of the Meeting Handbook.

Submitted by the Board of Directors

Adoption of the Company’s 2022 Earnings Distribution.

In 2022, the Company’s net profits after tax amounted to NTD 1,279,696,291 and
distributable earnings for this period amounted to NTD 2,130,684,513.

In the event that any repurchase of the Company’s shares, transfer or cancellation of
treasury stock, or exercise of employee stock warrants affects the number of
outstanding shares and changes the rights issue ratio and the dividends ratio per
share, the Board of Directors shall be authorized to deal with relevant matters
thereto.

The 2022 Earnings Distribution is attached hereto. For details, please refer to Page
35 of the Meeting Handbook.
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Resolution:

III. Election

Proposal:

Description: 1.

II.

I1I.

IV.

Resolution:

IV. Other Motions

Proposal:

Description: I.

II.

Resolution:

Comprehensive re-election of 7 Directors (including 4 Independent Directors) for
the 11th Meeting of the Board of Directors.

The term of the Board of Directors of the current session will be from June 17, 2020
to June 16, 2023. The directors are scheduled to be re-elected in whole at the annual
general meeting on June 20, 2023.

It is proposed to elect 7 Directors (including 4 Independent Directors) for the 11th
Meeting of the Board of Directors, and adopt a comprehensive nomination system
for candidates.

The old Board members will be discharged upon completion of the re-election at the
annual general meeting, and the new Board members serve the term of office
immediately. The term of office will be from June 20, 2023 to June 19, 2026.
Candidate List of Directors (Including Independent Directors), including their
education background, experience and other relevant materials. Please refer to Pages
36-38 of the Meeting Handbook.

The Motion for Termination of the Non-Competition Restriction Imposed on New
Directors and Their Representatives is submitted for discussion.

According to the first paragraph of Article 209 of the Company Law, a director
acting on his own or on behalf of others within the business scope of the Company is
required to explain the important content of their actions at the general meeting for
permission.

It is proposed that the Shareholders’ meeting agrees to terminate the non-
competition restrictions on newly elected directors and their representatives this year
from the date they assumed office. For details on the termination of non-competition

restrictions, please refer to Pages 39-40 of the Meeting Handbook.

V. Ad Hoc Motions

VI. Adjournment



Letter to Shareholders

Dear shareholders, ladies and gentlemen:

Gamania Group’s 2022 consolidated revenue was NTD 11.39 billion, maintaining the operation
level of the previous year. In particular, the main game “Maplestory” has successfully re-branded
and continued to achieve good revenue performance; the operating gross profit was NTD 4.68
billion, wherein operating profit was NTD 1.76 billion and the after-tax profit attributable to parent
company owners amounted to NTD 1.28 billion, a year-on-year increase of 16%. It is mainly due to
the successful adjustment of the operating structure, resulting in the improvement of profitability of
the main business. The effect of business layout became more obvious, and the operating revenue
and net profit after tax ranked second in history, with an EPS of NTD 7.29.

Looking back on 2022, the flagship APP beanfun! underwent a large-scale revision. Through
module reorganization and optimization of the underlying logic framework of the big data project,
the Company will improve user experience and strengthen the connection of the Group’s services.
Work with multi-party arts and entertainment partners, including phenomenon-level entertainment
programs, New Year’s Eve events, and arts and cultural venues ... to jointly plan online and offline
events, drive the conversion of traffic between virtual and real scenarios, and promote the growth of
new customers. In 2023, the Company will launch a social function with high conversion and high
adhesion to build a social platform that is most close to the attitude and culture of the new
generation.

The longevity of the game business, “Maplestory” reached a new high in annual revenue. The main
products “Lineage M” and other games have been launched with major revision activities to
contribute steadily to the Group’s revenue. In 2023, the Company will refine product operations and
provide a quality game experience. It is expected that 1~2 new products will be launched to inject
new momentum.

Under the dynamic and changeable environment in 2022, the Group’s payment, e-commerce, and
media businesses worked together separately to gradually diversify the Group’s marketing activities
and enrich the Group’s user profile. GASH explored opportunities in different businesses, and
promoted the transformation plan based on entertainment transformation and forward-looking
technologies. The pandemic and the iterative development of Al have driven enterprises’ digital
transformation and information security needs. DIGICENTRE COMPANY s cloud and information
security services have been favored by the market. In 2023, DIGICENTRE COMPANY will enter
Southeast Asia and lead the export of Taiwan’s information security capabilities overseas. Conetter
specializes in digital marketing and distribution advertising services, and has insight into customer
needs, which nearly doubled its revenue during the more than three-year pandemic.

Gamania Group has been sparing no effort in practicing ESG (environmental, social, governance).
Besides winning the Bronze Award at the 4th Annual Enterprise Environmental Protection Award
(AEEPA) from the Environmental Protection Administration, we independently completed the
greenhouse gas inventory and published the 2021 Gamania Group ESG Report. Gama Garden was
founded in 2012 by Gamania Group with the original intention of creating a friendly workplace
where employees can live in peace of mind. As it celebrates its 10th anniversary this year, it has
become a benchmark for Taiwan’s corporate nurseries. Gamania Cheer Up Foundation, which
encourages young people to defy challenges and take risks, celebrates its 15th anniversary with a
brand-new initiative “GoNext” to create positive social influence.

In 2022, Gamania Group overcame the challenge of COVID-19 and strived for progress while
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maintaining stability. In 2023, the Group will focus on improving its operational resilience and
transforming its subsidiaries to increase market share and influence of various services. It will also
deploy pan-entertainment content and its own IP, and stimulate the Group’s network ecosystem by
beanfun!

We would like to thank all of you for your trust and guidance in Gamania Group. The post-
pandemic era is full of both uncertainties and opportunities. Based on our commitment to
sustainable development, we will continue to amplify the diversification and synergy of the Group,
and share the Group’s operating results with all shareholders.

I wish you
The best in all your endeavors and happiness and well-being of you and your loved ones!
Chairman and President

Liu, Po-Yuan

Business Report
1. 2022 Business Plan Implementation Results
The operating income, gross operating profit, net profit before tax and net profit after tax
are detailed below.
Unit: NTD 1,000

Item 2022
Operating income 11,388,021
Operating gross profit 4,682,110
Operating profit 1,758,562
Pre-tax net profit 1,708,448
Net profit attributable to the owner of 1,279,696
the parent company

2. Analysis of Financial Income and Expenditure and Profitability
See VI. Financial Overview, II. Financial Analysis of the Past Five Years of the 2022
Annual Report for details.

3. Status of Research and Development
See V. Operational Overview, I. Business Activities, (III)  Technology and R&D
Overview of the 2022 Annual Report for details.

4. Expected Sales Volume and Rationale
The Company has different measurement units given its numerous types of operating
income and has not prepared financial forecasts, so there are no statistics on the expected
sales.

5. Impacts from External Competition, Regulatory Environment, and Overall Operational
Setting
(1) Effects of external competition and the overall business environment
The popularization of smart phones and mobile devices has contributed to the rapid
growths in the production value brought about by games and has also attracted
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accession of foreign game service providers at the same time. As a result, the
competition on the domestic gaming market is getting fiercer and fiercer. The
external environment, international trade disputes, and the global pandemic, however,
impact global economic growths and add uncertainties to the operational setting. In
light of this, besides continuing to run large well-known IP games, the Company is
proactively transforming to be a comprehensive web-based enterprise. Centering
gaming consumers, respective businesses are connected to bring growth momentum
for the Company.

(2) Impacts from the Regulatory Setting
As far as the regulatory setting is concerned, besides complying with national
policies and regulatory requirements, respective units, namely finance, sales, and
auditing, of the Company are paying close attention to changes in important policies
and laws in the nation at any time and are precisely keeping track of the latest
information so as to adjust the Company’s internal system and operating activities
accordingly and to ensure smooth corporate operations.

Chairman of the Board: Liu, Manager: Liu, Po-Yuan Head of Accounting: Su, Hsin-
Po-Yuan Hung



Audit Committee’s Audit Report

The Board of Directors prepared and submitted the 2020 Business Report, Financial
Statements (individual and consolidated financial statements), and Proposal on Earnings
Distribution. The Financial Statements, in particular, were completely audited by CPA Lin, Yi-
Fan and CPA Yen, Yu-fun of PwC Taiwan and this Audit Report was issued. The above-
mentioned Business Report, Financial Statements, and Proposal on the Distribution of Earnings
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and no inconsistency has been found. Therefore,
according to applicable requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act and the Company Act, it
is reported as above. Your review and approval are cordially requested.

Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.

Convener of Audit Committee:

March 9, 2023



2022 Remuneration for Directors
Unit: NTD thousand: 1,000 shares

Remuneration for directors Related remuneration to those who are also employees The sum of |5 & ~
Ratio of the A,B,C,D, % é =3
233
Retirement | Remuneration | Operational sum of A, B, Salary, bonus, and | Retirement | Remuneration for employees E,F and.G o 2 )
. . . C,and D to . . . and their |2 & ™
Reward (A) |and pension| for directors |expenditure f special expenditure |and pension (€)) 5 v g
(B) ©) (D) at_er—tax (E) (F) (Note 1) percentage -
earnings (%) in after-tax | 2 g g
profit% = g
> > > > > > > All companies > 2 §'
Position Name =3 g =3 8_ =3 g = 8_ = g =3 g s g The Company included in the =3 g £ o
4 (B2 |2 |8E| 2 |FE (2|52 (2| 5 = =5 |3| 28 financial | 4 1= 31 £ 8
s |[EE |8 |EE| 2 |EE|8|2E |8 | B¢ g EE IB| EE statement | & |5 | & g
5 o
o |eE|oleg| o |gE|o|gE |0 &g o e 2 |o| &2 o |e.2| &L
S (225228 (225|122 |8 28 5 ¢ 5 ZE 5 22| 3
B S8 |8 |82 | B S8 B |82 |3 S B g2 B| 82 Cash | Stock | Cash | Stock T |88 o8
2 gz |2 |gz| & sz |2 |gg |8 g = Z g s |2 g2 as toc as toc E z 2 5 g
2 a 3 a 2 a 3 a 3 a 2 a 3 a value | value | value | value 3 a
o O o o o o o o o o o O o O oo o
E & g & g5 & g a E & s a s a g5 a
= =3 =) = =3 =3 =3 =3
Chairman  |Liu, Po-Yuan 0 0 0 0 [10,280(10,280{ 50| 50 [0.81] 0.81 8,467 8,467 | 0 0 118,356 0 0 0 [10.72]10.72 0
Representative of
Director  |Wanin International: 0 0 0 0 |[5,140|5,140({20| 20 (0.40| 0.40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.40 | 0.40 0
Hsiao, Cheng-Hao
Director  |Lin, Hsien-Ming 0 0 0 0 |5,140|5,14030| 30 [0.40{ 0.40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 [0.40]0.40 0
Representative of
CLOUD COPIOUS
Director [INVESTMETN 0 0 0 0 |5,140(5,140|50| 50 (0.41| 0.41 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 [0.41]041 0
LIMITED.: Chen,
Shih-Ying
I“gif:gi‘;m Sheng, Bao-Si 1,800 [ 1,800 | 0 | 0 [2,300]2,300(50| 50 [0.32| 0.32 0 0o |of o 0 0 | o | o [032/032] 0
I“gif:cﬁiim Lin, Ruei-Yi 1,800 [ 1,800 | 0 | 0 [2,300]2,300(50| 50 [0.32| 0.32 0 0 |0l o 0 0 | o | o [032]032] 0
I“geif:;‘i‘r’m Chen, Kuan-Pai 1,800 | 1,800 | 0 | 0 [2300(2300(50| 50 [0.32| 0.32 0 0o [o] o 0 0 | o | 0 [032]032] o0

Note 1: The remuneration to employees is an estimate.
Note 2: The payment policy, system, criteria, and structure of remuneration for general and independent directors of the Company and the association between factors such as responsibilities
assigned, risks, and time spent, among others, and the value of the rewards paid:
The Articles of Association of the Company stipulates that no more than 2% of the annual profit shall be appropriated as directors’ remuneration, and shall be calculated based on the
following principles:
1. Inaccordance with the Company’s Director’s Reward and Reward Distribution Regulations, directors are rewarded based on the weighted ratio policy, and directors are given different
weights in proportion to their contributions to the Company; independent directors are rewarded based on their specific contributions to the Company.
2. In accordance with the Company’s Director Reward and Reward Distribution Regulations, independent directors are rewarded based on the extent of their involvement in the
Company’s operations and value of their contribution, as well as the standard in the same industry at home and abroad. The Board is authorized to determine the remuneration.
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2022 Consolidated Financial Statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS™ REPORT

PWLCR 22000549

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.

(pinion

We have audited the accompanving consolidated balance sheets of Gamania Digital Entertainment Co,
Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Group™) as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, of changes in equaty and of cash flows for the yvears then ended,
and notes to the consolidated linancial stalements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the audit reports of other auditors {refer to the other matter
section), the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and s consolidated
linancial performance and its consolidated cash Nows for the vears then ended in accordance with the
“Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers™ and the International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards. IFRIC Interpretations, and SIC
Interprelations as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Commussion,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audils in accordance with the “Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation ol
Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants™ and Standards on Auditing of the Republic of
China. Our responsibilities under those standards are [urther described in the duditors responsibifities
S the audir of the consolidared financial stadements section of our report. We are independent ol the
Group in accordance with the Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the
Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion,

Key audit matters

Kev audit matters are those matters that. in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
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of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and. in forming our opinion thereon. we do not
provide a separate opinion on these malters.

Estimation of revenue recognition of online and mobile games revenue

Description

Refer to Note 4(27) for accounting policies on revenue recognition, Note 5(2) for the critical accounting
eshimales and assumptions and Note 6(23) for the detals of accounting applied on revenue recognition.

Gamania Digital Entertainment Co.. Lid. (the “Company™) and the subsidiary, Gamania Digital
Entertainment (H.K.) Co,, Ltd.. are primarily engaged in providing online and mobile game services.
The game plavers purchase game stored-value cards or value-added to play the game or exchange for
virtual items. The Company and the subsidiary, Gamama Digital Entertainment (HK.) Co., Lid.,
recognise receipt of pavments for game stored-value card purchases or value-added by plavers as
“contract liability™, and recognises revenue over the period of the service or the estimated delivery period
of the virtual items when the game stored-value cards or value-added is used for the purchase of service
or virtual items, respectively.

The estimation of the virtual items delivery period, which is the same as the expected users” relationship
period, 1s based on historical data on item consumption and item transfer by management. The Company
has implemented processes and controls to develop and periodically review these estimates. The
information of stored-value and value-added was collected by computer svstem. Given that the Company
has many transaclions of game revenue and the deferral of virtual items and the estimation ol users’
relationship period involve management's subjective judgment. we consider the estimation of
recognition of online and mobile games revenue and contract liability as a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the matier

We performed the following audit procedures on the above key audit matter:

A, Assessed and tested the relevant internal controls over revenue recognition for online and mobile
games revenue.

B. Tested on a sample basis the consumption information generated from the Company’s data
collecion systems and venlied against the consumption report provided by the Companyv's
accountant.

C. Tested on a sample basis the virtual items information generated from the Company’s data
collection svstems and verified against the advance receipts as shown in the trial balance sheet
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provided by the Company’s accountant.

D. Tested on a sample basis the expected users’ relationship peniods as reflected in the data collection
svslems, and compared with expecied consumplion based on the Company s accounting policy.

Tmpairment assessment of goodwill

Description

Reler 1o Notes 4(18) and (19) lor accounting policies on goodwill impairment. Notes 6(12) and (14) lor
details of goodwill, and Note 5(2) for the uncertainty of accounting estimates and assumptions in relation
to goodwill.

Goodwill ansing from the merger of the Company with NOWnews Network Co., Lid. and Digicentre
Company Limited is matenal to the financial statements and the projected future cash flows of the
expacled recoverable amount under the valuation model adopled in the impairment assessment of
goodwill was estimated based on management’s subjective judgement and expectation on the future

operations. Thus, we consider the assessment of goodwill impairment a key audit matier.

How our audit addressed the matter

We performed the following audit procedures relative to the above kev audit matter:

A Assessed whether the valuation models adopled by the Group are reasonable for the indusiry.
environment and the valued assets of the Group.

B. Confirmed whether the expected [uture cash Nows adopled in the valuation model are in agreement
with the budget provided by the cash-generaling uniis.

C. Assessed (he appomled exlemal appraisers in conformily with the rules of gualilication and
independence. and evaluated the reasonableness of material assumptions, such as expected growth
rales, operating profil margin and discount rates, by:

{a) Reviewing the appraisal method and calculation formulas wsed by the independent appraisal
expert.

(b) Comparing the expected growth rate and operating profit marein with historical data;

{c) Reviewing the discount rate and comparing similar retum on similar assets ratio in the market,

D). Compared the recoverable value and book value of each cash-generating unil in order 1o assess the
reasonableness of the book value.
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(ther nmuttter — Reference to the audits of other anditors

Az described in Notes 4(3) and &(8). we did not audit the inancial statements of certam subsidiaries and
inyvesiments accounted [or under the equuty method with were audiled by other audilors. Therelore, our
opinion expressad herein. insolar as it relales o the amounts included in respect of these subsidiaries
and associales. is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. Tolal assets of the subsidiaries
amounted to NTS$2.157,183 thousand and NT$1,700,468 thousand, constituting 21% and 18% of
consolidated 1olal assels as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and operaling revenug was
NTH2,825, 788 thousand and NTH2 469 898 thousand, constituting 25% and 22% of consolidated total
operating revenue for the years then ended, respectively. The balance of investment accounted for under
equity method amounted to NT$56.856 thousand, constituting 1% of consolidated total assets as at
December 31, 2021, and other comprehensive loss accounted for under equity method was (NT$83,433)
thousand. constituling (8%) of consolidated total comprehensive meome [or the vear then ended.

(hther matter — Parent company only financial reports

We have audiled and expressed an unquahfied opinion with other malter section on the parenl company
only financial statements of Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Lid. as at and for the vears ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021

Responsibilities of management and those clharged with governance for the consolidated financial
Statements

Managemenl is responsible Tor the preparation and lair presentation of the consolidated [inancial
statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by
Securities Issuers, and the International Financial Reporting Standards. IFRIC Interpretations, and S1C
Interpretations as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Comimission, and for such mtemal control as
management determines 18 necessary 1o enable the preparation of consolidated lnancial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements. management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concem basis of accounling unless management either inlends (o liquidale the Group or
(o cease aperalions, or has no realistic allemative but lo do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseaing the Group’s financial reporting process,
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Anditors’ responsibilities for the andit of the consofidated financial stiatemenis

Our objeclives are (o oblain reasonable assurance aboul whether the consolidated linancial stalements
as a whole are [ree rom material misstalement, whether due (o fraud or error, and 1o issue an audilors”
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee

that an audit conducied in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China will
always delect a material misstalement when 11 exists. Misstalemenits can arise [rom [raud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 1o
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements,

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we exercise
professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identifv and assess the nisks of material nusstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due 1o fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive (o those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that 1s sulTicient and appropriate o proyvide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 1s higher than for one resulting from
error, as [raud may mmvolve collusion, forgery, inlentional omissions, musrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's intemal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concem basis of accounting and.
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn, 1f
we conclude that a material uncertainly exists, we are required (o draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated linancial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate. to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors” report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
L0 continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlving
lransactions and events in a manner thal achieves fair presentation.
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6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opimon on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion,
We communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other matters. the planned scope
and tmng of the audil and significant audil Ondings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identily during our audit.
We also provide those charged with govemance with a statement that we have comphed with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 1o communicale with them all relationships and other
matlers thal mav reasonably be thought (0 bear on our independence, and where applicable, relaied
safeguards
From the mallers communicaled with those charged with governance, we delermine those mallers that
were of most significance in the audit of the consohidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore lhe kev audit matters. We describe these matlers in our auditors” report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances. we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

Lin. Yi-Fan Yen, Yo-Fang
For and on behall of PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan
March 10, 2023

The sceompamying consolidated (nameial stalements are nol nfended o present the Inaneial posilion and resoalis of
aperations and cash flows i aceordanee with accounting prineiples generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other
than the Republic of China. The standards, procedures and practices in the Republic of China governing the review of such
[mancial statcments may differ rom those generally aceepled mn countrics and jurisdicions other than the BEepublic of Ching.
Aceordingly, the aceompanyving conselidated Gnemesal staements and mdependent auditors” review reporl ame ool inlended
For nse by those whe are not informed abont the acooimtimg principles or sudinng standards peneally acceptedin the Republic
of China, and their applications in practice.
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CAMANIA DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT CO. LTD AND SULSIDIARIES

COMSOLIDATED BALAMNCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 20223 AP 2021

(Expressed o hoisands of New Tuwan dollas)

Mecember 31, 20022

December 31, 20021

ARRCTR Motes AR T ABACLIRT k]
Current assels

RE Cash and cash cquivalents Bl b 3,747,319 36 3,418, 800 i
1136 Fimancial assels gl smortised cost - 607 and 8

cirent 120,204 1 BR 463 1
1150 Motes receivahle, net (el I - 752
1170 Accounts recervable, net G2 TR, 366 b B76,123 g
[RE Accounts receivable - relared parics, 7

nel 21,651 5 [1,34]
1240 Onler recaivables Gr3) 532,957 5 260, AR% 3
1210 Oither receivables - reluled parbies 7 2,571 - 2,214
1220 Current income fix nssets M, Ml = 20,040
| 313 [nventorics ] 128,927 2 122,582 1
1410 Prepuvmenls a3 2r.5n 3 352,026 4
1470 Uher current assers A Hi2 (TR 2 2TH, dhi 3
11HX Total current assels 3,876,002 a7 3,432,401 37

Nun-vurrent assels

1510 Financial assets at fair value through

prosdit or hyss - non-currenl 15,000 -
1517 Financial asscts at fair value through — 6i6)

other comprehensive ineome - non-

cureent 117,581 | 108,626 2
1550 Investments aceonnted for wnder eI

eyuily method 135,404 | 121,309 ]
Lt Property, plant and equipiment Gr9) and 3 2 B12 438 27 2,707, 67 £}
| 755 Fighi-ol-use ay=els Gl 73,933 1 T
1780 Intanaible assels A1) 1,178,590 I 630,744 7
| B0 Deferred income tax asscts G20 Ui, BRO 1 139,523 1
| 00 Other non-current assels GBI al.231 1 37107 ]
| 357% Tutal non-current asscts 4,510,863 13 4,040, 114 43
1 XXX Tatal assets h3 T3, B8, 05 LY. W, 472,515 pn

(Continued
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CAMANIA DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT CO. LTD AND SULSIDIARIES

CORSOLIDATED BATANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 20223 AP 2021

(Expressed o hoisands of New Tuwan dollas)

Mecember 31, 20022

December 31, 20021

|iakdlities and I-.quih' Motes AR T ABACLIRT k]
Curvent labilites
21410 S hort-term: hormowings G13) Y1, T 1 14, Tad 1
2130 Currenl contract labililies B3 R | 1 IEa.0la 4
2170 Accounts payvable 615,302 4] 564,127 i
2180 Accounts pavable - reluted parlies T 1,572 - 1,187
2200 Onher pavables G 16) 2,007 043 21 1,414,602 19
2220 Chther pavables - related paries 7 331,670 3 158,384 2
2230 Current meome tox hobilines 158,773 2 225,187 2
2280 Current lease liabilifics 20 3H5 - 29 6l
2320 Long-term linbilities, current portion 6173 - - L 000 ]
23 Cther current labilitics EA HER] 1 e, T 1
21XX Total corvent liabilities 3,938, 168 35 3,459,294 36
MNon-cwrrent linbilities
2370 Dreferred ingome tax liakilines Gi29) #9912 1 66, JUE ]
2380 [azase liabililies - non-current 47,715 &0, 004 1
2 Cnleer non-curvent Liabilines 22,105 - 28, TRG
23N Tustal non-current liahilities 159,735 1 L&]1, 16a 2
2RX Tortal liabilities 4,007 903 9 3,620,162 38
Equity attributable to owners of
parent
Share capital 619
3lln Commmen stock 1,754,936 T [.754,9536 (]
Capital surplus G20
3200 Capital surplus 1,354,763 13 1,335,163 14
Eetauned earmings GBl21
310 legal reserve 455, 103 5 ATH. 451 4
3320 Speciul reserve 05,352 5 551,904 £
3350 TTnappropriated retained carnings a8 227 a1 1,893,357 H
CHher eguily ilerest GBr22)
3400 Oiher cquity interest 430 34uy 4y 05 35200 31
ILXX Equity artwibutalle to owners of
the parent 5, E52 {132 57 =408, 439 5
32X Mon-contiolling uterest 434,930 4 443,614 5
INXX Total Equity o, TEd, 057 Gl 5.R52.053 il
Sigmlicant contimgent habilities and 9
unrecorded contract commitments
Sigmlicant events aller the balance 11
sheet dote
32X Total liabilitics and equity 101, 386,805 Ll 0.472,.315 LN

The wcompunying noles are an integra] purl ol these consolidated Dnanaal stalements.
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GAaMANTA TNGITAL FNTERTAMNMENT GO DT AND STUBSIDIARITS
CORNSOLINDATED STATEMERTS OF COMPREHENSTYE IRNCORME
YEARS EMDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AN 221
(Fxpressed in thonsands of Mew Taiwan dollars, except far carings per share data)

Yeurs ended December 31,

022 2021
Items Motes AMOUNT g AMOUNT )
4000 Operating revenns G{22)(23) and 7 3 11,387,421 % 11,372,477 100
000 Operaling costs A 2By and 7 [ G,705,911% ¢ 0y 6,615,302 a8
F50 Cross prolit 4,652,110 41 4,457,083 43
Operaling expenses B(28) and T
£ 00 Selling cepenses [ 1,042 4570 ¢ B i 1,208, 88467 ( 1
G200 Cioneral and administrative cxpenses [ 1,354 4460 | 1231 1,352, 756 ( iz
fr 30 Fesearch and development expenses [ 484, TTR) ¢ Sy 390 B4 0 3
frd 504 Fapected eredit impairment loss 1202) { 2.2367) -9 M, 534 1
10 l'otal oporating cxpenscs [ 2,925, 5480 0 2601 3,032 0 o 27,
HEOE Operoting ieaine 1,758,562 15 |, 734,005 15
Mop-operating income and ¢xpenses

7100 Interest income 6(24) L R0 - 3.Mm -
To10 Other income RL25) 19,627 - 12510 -
TO20 Citleer gonns amd losses 0020 [ 4,718 = TR, 02T ¢ T
Ta50 Tinance cosls f{2T) { 53,4933 | 6.875) -
T Share of loss of associales and joint f{H)

wvenmres acconnted for nnder

equily methad [ 3, 45343 - 117,619 ¢ L
OO0 Total non-operaling income and

CNIENECE [ 50,114} St 2ud_9uay X

Ta00r  Profit hefore income tax 1,708, 445 13 1,445,004 13
T950 Income tay cxpanse O{2%) [ 430,347 ( 44 435,981 ) ¢ 4
H200 Profit for the year 4 1,274,107 11 % 1,000, 115 Y

(Comiinmd
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GAMANTA DIGITAL FWTERTATMMENT Co3. LTTy. AN STIHSITHARITS

CORSOLIDATTED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHEMSTVT, TRCOMT,

Y¥LARS FHDTD DECEMOER 31, 2032 AN 2021

[ Fapresacd in thowsands of Mew Taiwan dollars, except for carnings per share data)

[tems

Years ended Decomber 31,

2023

2021

AROLINT

AMOLNT

8311

Bila

8320

B344

8310

BRETE1

8370

L]

B36d

Be il
820

8710
8720

bl
9830

(her comprehensive income, net
Components of other comprehensive
income that will mot be reclassified
10 profit or loss
Awtunnal poan on defined benefit a8
plan
Tlnrealised (los) gamn on Gy
inveatments in equity instrumaents
at fair valwe throngh other
comprehensive income
Shure ol other comprehensive (loss) 60220
income of associates and jomnl
ventures accounted for usang the
equity method that will not be
reclagsified m prodit ar loas
Income tax relared to components of 60249
other comprehensive income that
will ol be reclassifed fo profilor
leas
Other comprehensive (loss)
income that will not be
reelassified o pralitor loss
Com ponents of other comprehensive
imcome that will be reclassificd to
profit or liss
Financial statements translanon
differences of foreign operations
Share ol other comprehensive
income ol associales and jomt
veniures accounted for under
eojuity method that will be
reclassified w prodit or loas
Ineorme tax relaning to the A(29)
components of other
comprelensve memneg
Oiber comprehensive income:
[Toss) that will be reclussilied o
proditor less
Tutal other comprehensive income
for the yvear
Total comprehensive income for the
year
Profit {lossy alinbutable to:
Cramers of the parent
MNow-controlling intenest

Comprehensree tneome {loss)
attributable fo
Orwmers of the parent
Nop-controllme mienest

Enemngs per share { i dallars) arzay
Basic samings per shore
Diluted emmines per shore

The accompanying notes are an integral pait of these consolidated financinl statements.

10,785

e
JA,

350

E13]

5,105

3865

s

592)

42,607

33,265

1,044,383

T, 496
LS89

1,106,281
07, 186}

07

1,00%,115

1,329,
20,

8271
400

I, 145,337
(EHRETY

)

1,350,

271

1,044, 583

i

b

=
17

%
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|
Balaree at Tmuery 1, 2031
Profil (hoas) 7

Urlier comprelesive neoine o) for the vear

T e

Total eooprebensize aeare o
Appropatinm o 020 serned sfneps
Loepl ey

Spedal reserve

lale

Taeh <

Change in ety of nscortes amd Jomi ventooes

el it eepars el
Change in cwaerehip mierest in gubsihene
Cheanges oo eoatr sl L g innrcer
Cappuzaal ol irepsimmie in wquily moed summeen e al
feir vahne througlt other compodiznsre income
Helnooe ar Desember 31, 2021

202
Dialomce at fimuary 1, 2022
Pradit (oss) for the wear

Db vt s niece Ol o the vear

Tolal ot laees s e s
Appegizdione o0 T0T ] uminal cnpe

Legal reservi

ISR (LT -

Carh dividmle
Cheang i coisreiip izl il
Changes tn noeeocirol kg inlevest
Cispesal of imvesmezis in syuty Deizumenis o
Tear wiiue threngeh, cther compoehensve income

Belomace ot Diegmmiter 31, 2022

CAMAN S CIGTTAL, FRT
CONSOLITWTEL

ADMERT 00
E k]

LTT1 AMDETIRAMIARIES

[N EQLITEY
“

[ Exprrassed iz thonamds of Mew Towmm dellass)

Lty atm sumnble 1 cwzers of e poronr

Tiagr Il Riwreis

0lscr Fapin 1 i iaal

L nrecised gans
liesent rem
szl finanaa st
sl mcisaird Ar i
ranelaion viipe througk cthes
Shume oyl - Auiditional paid-= Treesms chozke Lnzppreprabed Cofferences of camprehensive San-zentrelling
Kilizs capile’ Iranzsdivns il iyl oo Sqwidn] pameer il wsnngs Fovipn eparstens Tl nihinzd Tl
R R Ak s 6,775 5 372,70 bosa e R R B 50 LR H [ HLAG 1§ 4,984,658 ] T |
L 0 28l I LR
- - 2 = A e H 3 EET D Al S U 3, TE8 33, Mk
B 2 - - 1,10, 541 ! AR Feall 1,145,347 0, |, 14,552
arily
11365 d LI 1
= d H R ¥ AT N ] 3 " .
TaL,uM g LM WA
L3ecy]
S 1,07 2 - 1,07 7
LIRIN] i L, kAl 1206 3 LS T2 25438 M, 513
ALY * - - - - - - - - . 17,614 17,674
= 2 - 1,58 - Ly 5 N
¥ R B ] E =0 ,905 5 ST 0L POTREAL 5 37z.45 L) I 5 1,353,537 3 1518 0 05 1§ e A ¥ 445,014 LI e o
17805k - & 4 LT T LT 4aT 5 GTE AN ot B 40 LALRN ] 131,80k 5 (% ErE T T s P PR S t 445,014 5 LREX M
1, AW e 1, 2%, e, 1,520 [
- - - - 2411 4z s i 543 0,17 A1 Gl e
% 3 = L, 28, e 25,205 ‘ s L, 322, B7L 20,4 1,391,271
arzla
£ 5 2 R £ A - - : 2 -
45,532 ) 552
1 AT A5R £T7 A58 3 Ly I
[HEIN] = 8- el s H A0 810 EREN 17,297 )
LR, &7 18,597
e
1 Mo Ad s
F I s 5 6,975 5 72T bOEE T i H b OS82 CE Y 1§ o R I .74 F SRR20R S K 5 & IRR AR

U s mpdinyog nooes e atintgral par of these mecldored fingeal saesens
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GAMANIA DIGITAL ENTEETAINMENT Co. LTD AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASIT FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBETR 31, 2022 AND 2021
(Expressed in thonzands of Mew Taiwan dollars)

Yeurs ended December 31,

Moles 2022 20621
CASH FLOWWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profil helfore wax b 1,708, 445 b 1,443,096
Adiustments
Suljustiments to reconcle pralin (loss §
TNepreciation G0N 2% 161,035 164,360
Amortisation GE11N2RY 427,10 T WM
Expected credit nnpairment loss 12(2) 2267 .55
Inlerest expense G227 2445 [, B75
Iterest ineome G 24 { 0,859 0 3,304
Sharc of loss of subsidiaries and associates acconnted G
fior under equity method 43 117,619
Tovss om disposul of property, plant and soquipment ai2a] 3 47
Lozs an dispozal of investment [ 26) ROS
Impurment less on non-lnuncial assels af 1426 03,163 171:.635
Dividend 1neome Glfh - [ 1451
Changes i operating assets and liabilities
Chunges in operuling assels
Mites receivahle T41 3,781
Agcounts receivable LE S BT | 155 )
Acvounts receivable - reluted purties { O30y 2,004
{Mher receivahles [ A T 171
Oither receivahles - melated partics [ 357 ) 415
Inventloties [ 6,33} 3,524
Prepayments i, 449 G 049
{(Mher current asscts 454005 o 47 596 )
Changes m opermtug lalalities
Cromlract labilites [ B0E2 ) 10 287
Mates pavahle - 0 12117
Aeccounts povable 51,235 5, A
Aecounls pavable - relalsd parlies [ 3,613} L)
(dther pavahlos N L ST | 12,0003
(Mher pavables - related parties 193,002 42 B8
Cither current labilities ] 25,585
Cither nom-current lishililies R G150
Lash intflow generated from operations 2 )2, 384 2,962 145
Inforest received ), HW 3,3
Thvidends received Ha2 TG
Tnberest paid { 5,493 ¢ i,B75
Ineome tay paid i 447,641y ARE B )
Met cash provided by operating activitics 2,470,771 2,573 635
(Continued)
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GAMANIA DIGITAL ENTEETAINMENT Co. LTD AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSDLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASIT FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021
(Expressed in thonzands of Mew Taiwan dollars)

Yeurs ended December 31,

Noles 2022 21821
CASHTLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value Glf)
throegh slher comprehensive incones ¥ il 20e b 41,529
Acquisition of financial assers at fair value through profit
or loss [ 15,000 ) -
(Increase ) decrease in finoncial assets as amormised cost { 31,741 % 14,1632
I)eerease (increase) in other financial asscis 31,385 o 136,424
Seouisition ol iy estments accounted Lor under souily LT
method { 44, TH Y o 34,129
Awcquisition ol property, planl and equipment G 32 [ 130,99 3 B .46
Proveeds from disposal of property, plant ond equipient TET 309
(Inerease ) decrease in refundable deposits [ 5572 4,009
Acquisition ol inlunzible ussels 632 { L056,292 ) IR0, 155
{Mher non-current asaets { 12,457 ) 16, B3E
Met cash used 1 investiog nolivilies { L2333 M2 v S05, 040 3
CASHTLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Deeronse i shoct-tenn borrowings 33 { 17.786°) 1 125,495 )
Eepwvment of long-term debt IR { BOLO00 Y L4, 00
{Decrense) increase in pumanies deposiis received { 1,740 3 4,340
Fayment of lease Gahilities G 33 { 3. 1W 31,435
Cush dividends pmd G219 [ BIT A8 Y O J0L, 9704
Increase in suhsidiarics capital from non-contralling n3l)
inlcrest T 13,977
Cash dividends pud to non-controllug interest { Tl i T 16,852
Acquisition of additional squity intereat in suhsidianies Gl ( 14,704 ) o Bl
Met cash nsed in financing activinies i 1O38. 051 ) ¢ 1,006,781
Elfect of exclunge role changes co cash ond cash
equivalents 119,645 31,619
Het merease ue cnsh and cash equivalents A1, 423 1,021,295
Cash and cash equivalents al beginnimg of the vear 3A1E, 8% 2,397,601
Cash and cash eguivalents al end of the vear b 3,757,319 h ] 3,418,890

The sccompanying notes are an mtegeal part of these consolidated tinancial stafements
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2022 Individual Financial Statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REFORT

PWCR 22000550
To the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of Gamania Digital Entertainment Co.. Ltd.
Opirion

We have audiled the accompanying parent company only balance sheets of Gamama Digital
Entertainment Co., Lid. (the “Company™) as al December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related paremt
company only statements of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for the vears
then ended. and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the audit reports of other auditors, the accompanying parent
company only Onancial stalements present Farly, in all matenal respects, the nancial posinon of the
Company as al December 31, 2022 and 2021, and its [inancial performance and 115 cash Nows lor the
vears then ended in accordance with the “Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports
by Securities Issuers™.

Basiy for opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Govemning Audiling and Altestation of
Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and Standards on Auditing of the Republic of
China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors "responsibilities
Jor the audit of the pavent company onlv financial starements section of our report. We are independent
of the Company 1n accordance with the Norm of Professional Ethics for Cerinfied Public Accountant of
the Republic of China. and we have [ulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion,

Key audit matters

Kev audit matters are those matters that. in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the parent company only financial stalements of the current period These malters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the parent company only financial statements as a whole and, in
forming our opinion thereon. we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Given thal the financial performance of Gamama Digital Entertamnment (H K ) Co., Ltd . a subsidiary
directly held by the Company accounted for using the equity method, has been assessed 10 have
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a significant impact on the Company’s parent company only financial statements. we consider the
estimation of recogmition of the subsidiary s online and mobile games revenue and contract hability as
a kev audit matter.

Estimation of revenue recognition of online and mobile games revenue
Descriplion

Reler to Note 4(24) lor accounting policies on revenue recognition, Note 3(2) for the critical accounting
estimates and assumptions and Note 6(20) for the details of accounting applied on revenug recognition,

The Company and the subsidiary, Gamania Digital Entertainment (H.K.) Co., Ltd.. are primarilyv engaged
in providing onhne and mobile game services. The game plavers purchase game stored-value cards or
value-added (o play the game or exchange [or virtual items. The Company and the subsidiarv. Gamania
Digital Entertainment (HK.) Co., Lid.. recognise receipl of payments lor game stored-value card
purchases or value-added by plavers as “contract liability’, and recagnises revenue over the period of the
service or the estimated delivery period of the virtual items when the game stored-value cards or value-
added 1s used [or the purchase of service or virtual 1lems, respeclively.

The estimation of the virtual items delivery period, which is the same as the expected vsers’ relationship
period, is based on historical data on item consumption and item transfer by management. The Company
has implemented processes and controls to develop and penodically review these estimates. (iven that
the Company has many transactions of game revenue and the deferral of virtual items and the estimation
of users relalionship period involve management’s subjective judgement, we consider the esimalion of
recognition of online and mobile games revenue and contract liability as a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed the matter

We performed the following audit procedures on the above key audit matter:

A Assessed and tested the relevant intemal controls over revenue recogmbion for online and mobile

fames reyeanue,

B, Tested on a sample basis the consumption information generated from the Company’s data collection

systems and venfied against the consumption report provided by the Company s accountant,

C. Tested on a sample basis the virtual items information generated from the Company’s data collaction
systems and verified against the advance receipts as shown in the trial balance sheet provided bv the

Company’s accountant.
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D. Tested on a sample basis the expected users” relationship periods as reflected in the data collection

systems. and compared with expected consumption based on the Company’s accounting policy.

Impairment assessment of premium on investments accounted for under equity method

Description

Refer to Notes 4(13) and 4(17) for accounting policy on impairment assessment of investments
accounted for under equity method, Notes 6(6) and 6(12) for details of impairment assessment of
inyestments accounted lor under equity method, and Note 5{2) for uncertainty of accounting estimales
and assumptions in relation to impairment assessment of investments accounted for under equity method,

As of December 31, 2022, the investments of Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Lid. in NOWnews
Neltwork Co.. Lid. and Digicentre Company Limited are matenal sand there 15 a premium ansing [rom
goodwill. The future cash Nows projections of the expected recoverable amount was calculaled based
on management’s estimation and expectation of the future operations, which involve management’s
subjective judgement and sigmficant estimation, and the resull 1s signilicant (o the lnancial slalements.
Thus, we consider impairment assessment of investments accounted for using equitv method a key audit

malter.

How our audil addressed the maiier:

We performed the following audit procedures relative 1o the above kev audit matier:

A, Assessed whether the valuation models adopted by the Company are reasonable for the industry.
environment and the valued assets of the Company,

B. Conlirmed whether the expected luture cash [lows adopted in the valuanon model are in agreement

with the budget provided by the cash-generaling unils:

C. Assessed the appomted extemal apprasers m conformity with the rules of qualification and
independence, and evaluated the reasonableness of material assumpuions, such as expecled growth
rates, operaling profit margin and discount rates, by:

(1) Reviewing the appraisal method and calculation formulas used by the independent appraisal

experl.

(2) Comparing the expected growth rate and operating profit margin with historical data;
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{3} Reviewing the discount rate and comparing similar return on similar assets in the market,

1. Compared the recoverable value and book value of each cash-generating unil in order 1o assess the
reasonableness of the book value,

her matter — Scope of the Audit

As described in Note 6(6), we did not audit the financial statements of certain investments accounted for
under the equity method and the related mformation disclosed in Note 13, which were audited by other
auditors. Therelore, our opimion expressed herem, insolar as 1l relates (o the amounts included in respect
of these associates, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. For the vears ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, the comprehensive income amounted to NT$63,104 thousand and NT$37.081
thousand, respectively, and the balance of investments accounted lor under equily method amounled 1o
NTH1.075.658 thousand and NTS860, 190 thausand as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the parent company only
[financiul statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and Fair presentation of the parent company only financial
slalemenls mn accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by
Securities Tssuers, and for such internal control as management delermines is necessary (0 enable the
preparation of parent company only financial statements that are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the parent company only financial statements, management 1s responsible [or assessing the
Company s abilily (0 conlinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related (o poing
concern and using the gomng concern basis of accountling unless management either intends 1o liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible [or overseging lhe Company’s financial reporiing
procass,

Anditors’ responsibilities for the andit of the parent company only financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company only financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opimion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guaranlee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
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and are considered matenal if, individuallv or in the aggregate. thev could reasonably be expected to

influence the economc decisions of users taken on the basis of these parent company only financial
slalements

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China. we exercise

professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identifv and assess the risks of matenal misstatement of the parent companv only financial
slatemenits, whether due 1o [raud or error, design and perform audil procedures responsive (o those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our apinion,
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, foreery, intentional omissions, nisrepresentations, or the
overnde of intemal control.

Obtain an understanding of intemal conirol relevant (o the audil in order (o design audil procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
ettectiveness of the Company’s intemal control,

Evaluate the appropnateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of managament’s use of the going concamn basis ol accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a maiterial uncertainty exists related 1o evenis or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company s abilitv to continue as a going concem.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors”
report 10 the related disclosures in the linancial statements or, i such disclosures are inadequate, Lo
modify our epinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors” report. However, future events or conditions mav cause the Company to cease to continug
48 4 going concerm.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and conlentl of the Onancial statements. including the
disclosures, and whether the linancial stalements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities or
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the parent company only financial
slalements. We are responsible [or the direction, supervision and performance of the audil. We
remain solely responsible for our audil opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timng of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requrements regarding independence. and to communicate with them all relationships and other
malters thal mav reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

saleguards.

From the matters communicaled with those charged with governance, we determing those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the parent company onlv financial statements of the current
vear and are therefore the kev audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances. we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing s0 would reasonably be expected 1o outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Lin, Yi-Fan Yen. Yu-Fang

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseC oopers. Taiwan
March 10, 2023

The accompanying parent company enly finaneial statements are not intended to present the Finanesal position and results of
operalions and cush Qows o accondance with accounbing principles generally accepled in countrics and jurisdictions other
than the Republic of Ching, The standunds, procedures and proctives in he Republic of Ching governimg, the audil ol such
financial statements may differ from those generally accepted in countries and jursdictions other than the Republic of China.
Accordingly, the accompanying parent company only Anancial statements and independent muditons” report are ot intended
[or use by those whe are not informed about the accounting principles or auditing standards generally aceepted 1n the Bepublic
of China, and their applications in practice.

Az the Onaneial statements sre the responsibility of the management, FricewalcthouseCoopers canmel acceepl anv LHability Lot
The wse af, or relianee on, the English ranslation or Tor any ermors or misunderstandimgs that may derive rom the tramslation
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GAMANLA DIGITAL THTERTAINMENT CO LT
FARENT COMEANY ONLY BALANCE SHEE'TS
DECEMBER 31, 20223 AP 2021

(Expressed o hoisands of New Tuwan dollas)

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Ay Moles AMOUNT M AMOUNT tu
Current assets

(RIEE Cash and cash eguivalents Bl 5 BRI by 715,321 1t
1136 Current financial assets at armeortised

coat 21,40 2 g
L1770 Accounts receivable, ner G2 158,314 2 M 444 3
L1%0 Ageounts receivable - related parhies 7 GRE, 256 i G, B )
1200 Diher receivables 37860 I 0,833 1
1210 Diheer receivables - reluled parlies 7 21,905 - 25,963
1220 Currenl income lux sssels - - G2
1300 Inventories TR 540 - 240
110 Prepasments Gid] 115,215 2 172,502 2
1470 Dither current assels % 35,708 17,152
11XX Tutal current asscts 1,723,099 23 1,508, 528 ]

Non-current assels

1510 Mon=current homcial asses ol lnr

value (hmogh pro e or loss 13 000
1517 Financial assels al fair value throueh  6(3)

other comprehensive income - non-

carrcat B, 9R1 1 162,155 2
1550 Investments accounted for wnder G fr)

crjitity method 2,198,012 o 2.4K),711 32
Ll Propenty. plont asd equipinent GI7L T omd B 2,623, 580 35 2,616, 068 36
1735 P phiecit-use assets ] 30,698 1 EL T I
1730 Intangible assets G0 and 7 Ta5, 44 I |57, 560 ?
[ 840 Delerred income Lax wssels Bi26]) a4.930 1 127,053 2
[ S0 Oiher non-current assels Gl 2,936 - 19, 0a6
13XX Tortal non-current assets 5,807 407 T 5,451,427 75
XXX Toral assets $ T, 5H), BRG o5 7,259 455 K E

(Comtinned s
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GAMANLA DIGTTAL ENTERTAINMINT SO, LT

PARENT COMPANY ONLY BALANCE SHEELS

DECEMBER 31, 20223 AP 2021

(Expressed o hoisands of New Tuwan dollas)

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

Linbalities und Doguily Moles AMOUNT o AMOUNT Y
Current liabilities
2130 Current contract liahilitics G20 M2, 2RE (L 473,290 [z
2170 Acconnts pavable 31K, 378 4 265, TR o
Z1H0 Accounts pavable - related partics 7 5, 0d5 1 441, Bid 1
2200 Oither payables B13) GlS  AR3 b ShR,ATH A
2220 Otheer pavables - related parties 7 |37, 680 2 |48, 2RG 2
2230 Current income tax liabilities oy, 0 1 1061, 598 2
2280 Current lewse linbilities I7.067 - 15,157
2320 Lomg-term abililies. curmenl porlion 6114 - 0,0 |
238 Oiher current habililies 6,788 - 4,574
21X% Total current Habilities |,643,5343 e 1,790,143 24
Non-current liahilities
2540 | ang-term barrwings IRE Y - - -
2370 Dieferred neame oy Lhakdlines ([ 20 1,218 - i
23RO Lease hahilities - non-curret 33,612 . 49 63 1
206(K) Oither son-curient liabulities G0 451 - 5,438
ZIRX ‘T'otal non-current liahilities 3.3 - 53,073 1
UK Tatal liabilities 1,678,654 o 1,451, 516 23
Equily
Share capital Gila])
3110 Common stock 1,751,936 23 1,754,936 24
Capital surplus TR
A20) Capital surplus 1,354,763 18 1,335,163 14
Relaned sumings al1%)
310 | £gal reserve 485, 103 £ 374,451 3
3320 Special rescrve Hia, 352 i 551,%M b
£330 LInappropriated refained carnings 2,188,229 2 1,883, 337 2
Cher equity interess EIREY
3400 Olver equary interest 39,3493 ¢ 53 ( W5, 352) ¢ Ti
IXHE Tustal couity 5,852 452 T8 3,405, 439 ]
Sigmilicant cenbingenl habilites and 9
unreconded contract commitments
Sigmilicant events aller the balance I
sheet date
342X Total Habilities and equity 7,530, 684G e 8 7,259 455 E

The wecompanying woles ure an inlzeml purl ol these parenl company only Ooancial stalements,
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AT DAL L L DR AN L A L,

FARENTCOMEARY ORLY §TATEMEN S OF COMPRELENSIVE DHCUOME

YEAES EMDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 221

[I':t[l'rum;m:l m Lhousands of Bew Tawan -:|.1:-||:|.1'x, uxcuiﬂ EiLmi‘Tll!‘,‘R per shar |!:|.1.'t]

Year cnded Decenber 51

2023 2021
Tms Miles AMDUMT % AMOITNT )
4130 Upernbing revenue G anal 7 3 H.T2R,5RS 3 .2 iK1
KK Clperaling <osls AUANAS Y and 7 { 4 025, 1451 1 Ay o 4,08 i i
2030 (iross |:ln.|ﬁl 3,205,444 40 3 .: 40
Opermbng sxpenses G( 253 and 7
1030 Selling expenses i SHLL AR Bl AATHETY il
R Cieneral aml pdminisiralive pxpenses { B45 RUDY 109 1 A 255) o 14
B0 Research and development expenses { 444 5040 | a1 30 36E) o 4!
hdEl Impaimment gam (expected credil
'i'm]m'innulﬂ fiass) 4 - L 3
GOGD Total operating expenses { 1 T8 WITY 2211 1,675,506 2
G Upernling incoms: 1.4 15 1,051 155 i
on-pperating iconc and exponscs
T100 [ntercat incoms o121y 932
ToLn Oither incomes Ol and 7 | 52,817 -
TOZ0 Oiher ga.i.lu angd losses 623 { [ 1§ T, AT5Y 1
o0 Finanee costs 0124} ) - d 3,791 )
TO70 Share of Income {loss) of pssociates and
Joinl venlures aceounted for under
L‘ill:li|!f methiml P 1 166 LOddy o A
000 Total non-operating income and
CHRPRANRCE | 2203997 | 3
T I'ratil befre income tnx 14 1,430, h56 17
TUED Income lax ex pense B M i I 31 o 24 ATh) o 4’
E200 Profit for the year ] 16 4§ 1,106,231 13
Other com prebensive income
Com ponents ol alher com prehensive
ineoma Lhal will nal be roedlassilied da
profil or less
H3a11 Acharinl g an delmed benefil plan AL15) 4 TR - 1 B
kA [ Unreahiseed (loss) incomu from B 19
mveslments m Gguily melnemcnts
mcasared at fair valoe through othe
comprehenaive inconte { 49900 [ 13 47,250
2330 Share of athor comprelcnsive (less)
o of associates and jodt
ventures accounted for under squity
mgthod that will not be rsclazsified o
profit ar loas { 30770 - 11,561
3340 Income tax reloted to components of G20
other comprehensive meome that will
niol be rechszifiel o profil o loss i 2,153 - 1,122
8310 Onher com prehensive {losa) income
that will mot be reclassified to
peofitor loss i 4,031 ¢ L 62,897
{nm ponenls ol ol herr eoom prr'hllrlxi'l.'n
imcome that will be reclussilied o pmlh
ur biss
ERIA Fimemetal slaluments lrans laliom
il oo of frcign oporatioms a4 _00a | 17.503)
B3E0 Share of ather comprchonsive income G115
{loss ) of associates and joint venmirgs
acgounted for uader coquity mecthod
tleat will be reclassitied to profit or
Lo 11,9490 - 1,059
B304 Ineome fax relnting 1o components of G 2y
other comprehenaive loss { 10, 79 - 2.721
Ranh (iher coan prebensive incomae (s
that will be reclassified 1o |lmn|'|'l ar
lirscs, 9%, 206 L( 23.541)
BRI hher com prebensive income e the year b 1,175 & A4 UER 1
S50 Tutal com prehensive incom e for the vear 3 1.320 871 15 3 1,145,337 1<
Lamings per share (in doflans) B2
L) ] Tasne u;rn'i'ngs. per share "{ 7.1 ‘i 650
0830 Dlilutzd zamings per shars 3 717 3 fi.2)

The gcormpanying nolc arc an intcgal part of these parent company cmly financial statements,
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Hhsce gpntal -

GiAATA DIGTIT Al EXTERTATR =T O 1T
Pos s T Conndia Y oy STATEMBENTS OF CCHAMCHES (B OBOL T
YEARS EXDBD DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021
{Fxnreasaed @ rhoomards of Hew Tawean dallars

Camiral Reservea

Retnnzd Bamings

thber Tcainy Troersst

Suddutivon paud-in

Tiwsiey avack

ansact oo Ciliers

Legal reserve

Specul resecye

41,795

] s

Loapgeopee:!

]

celamed sanuszs

1902, 152

=]
sralerents
lraee b

diffmeansies of

li'.l:a!gn:pa-u:u.:u

Unrelised pains
lesme s from
fsrzial ey
s ared at L
valun Buvugh ot
soatiprebsia
icenne

Todal equicy

- LN

i§ £43.835 ) & 4984 648

it soosa: steck

202
Fealarce ar Jamurye |, 202 3 0,75 934
Profir. for the year -

Db goenprefmiaive awocni Chesal for U voar

106,381
4, Tf:

23,541 )

- L1, 251

kR W 5

Tarlal U:.'i'.lj.'l."."b\.':l‘..'.'l.' s vene (Leard Uoe te OHT

1100, 047

4 23,841 1)

e 1,145 337

Apropriabens and detibubon of 2020 retamed canongs G018
Lapal vregrve ;
Speuml reserve -
Cash devidencs -

Thange in eqiliny of araseiars and it ventare

aceoinbed Cor under equaty method -
Thangs i1 camership interest in saheidiariea .

Trapaeal of irveabiers in aqiiy iratoamems designated &5]

1.5

113, ¥4

16, 4

115, %1

179 wE

1,104

P e

1,074
0,646 )

AR, 973 5

§ o avs,451

§ =5l

5 13,809 )

1,408,430

if

ot

al Pair vadue duouzh other comprefensive ioooms -

Balapee at Devember 31, 2020 300,358,950
2022

Ealares ar Javniary 1, 2022 3 1,718 934

b

A, WS b AN ] 15487

) 175,451

b I 1

| BE3, 137

% 151, 8048 )

if R I e T

Profir for the yer

1,279 B9

Oiher coenpreheasive moome kess) For the vear - - - - - 2,612 LR i 33,643 0,173
Tatal comprehensve meome (loss) foe the vaar - - - - - 1288, & D520 33,643 ) 1.3209 871
Apmrapriabons ard demibubon of 2621 rebunzc earmrgs 18
gl v . - - (I - .
Reversal of specu] reserve £ £ E - = f FORED Y E = £
Caah dvidenda - - - - - BT AR - -0 FE k3
Cliapge 1 cwnersiup interest s suisxlae 15,400 I N | ) &80
[spasal of investmernns inequaty irstnaments desiznated  &5]
al Dot vadoe dueogh cther comprebensive iseane M4 440
Balamce at Degember 31, 2002 F1.1% 9% 5 Hia, 203 ] LI 1 25087 t R, 1013 t 5,352 b % ] ol (f SV ME ) B 5 B52.03E

The oompenying nebe pow o inbsral perd of these peent wonmeop enly finenoal ssemeae
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EAMANLA DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT COr.. LTD,

PAREMNT COMPARY OMLY STATHMEM TS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2023 ANTD 2021

(Exprossed m thoosands of Mew Taiwan dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
IProvit hetore tax

Adjustments
Adjustments to reconcile profin (loss)

[epreciation

Ameriisalion

i Impairment gain’y expected cradit impairment
lexss

[nterest expense

Interest ineemae

Shure ol (profit) loss associates aceounted for
under equity method

Less on disposal of investmenl

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
o UIPTICTI

Impairment loss on non-financial assets

Changes in operaling assels and labalities
Clanges in operating assets
Accounts recaivable
Aceounts receivable - related parties
Oiher receivables
(xther receivables - related parties
[mventorics
Prepayvinenis
Other non-current asscls
Chamges in operating liabilities
Contract liabilities
Motes pavable
Accounts payvable
Aceounts pavable - related parties
{iher payvables
Orher payables - related parties
Ciher curment lubilities
Other non-current liahilities
Cash inflona generated from operations

Imteres! received

[vidends received

Literest paid

Ineome lx paid

Met cash fows from operating activities

Meotes

2022

2021

{7 % and (23)
S0 amd (25)
12(2)

1,327,433 5 1,430,856
121,934 124,708
313,303 qls, 072

43 3
1,485 3,95
.31 03l |
PR 165, 6432
g _
i 3
44, 550 100, 247
43,130 16,492
12, 415) 369,053
3,075 4,431
70600 3,433
0 717
2,155 o 1,535
4,108 2,654
T1.002 % 949,413
s 1.211
52,5849 40, Tad
11,757 13,361
27,857 ¢ 192,134
14,060y 13,500
2,214 7R
A3y ( 658
1,461,426 3059, 00
5,311 nad
137,111 112,284
L.A853 ) 3,039
30,2710 | 205, 558
1,792,102 1,042,089

i

B2

G210 [
i

25

{23

G112y and

23}
([
i
i
i
{
4
i
i

(Conlined i
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GARANLA DIGITAL ENTERTATNMERNT Cor. LT,
PARENT COMPANY ORLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31. 2022 AR 202 ]
(Exprossed in thouwssnds of Wew Taiwan dollars

Motes 2022 2ih2]
CASI FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acguisition of financial assets at fir vale through
profit or loss 05 [5,000 0§ -
Proceeds [rom disposal ol lmeral asseis ol for S5
walue theough other compiehensive income 41,308 5,545
Inereasze in (nuncial sssels ol amortised cosl i 21,406 -
Inerease in other [inancial gssels i B350 0 22152 )
Aguisition ol invesiments aecoumied Tor gmder 7
ecuity method { 666,175 ) | 443,022 )
Proceeds Itom capital reduciion of invesiments
aceounted for inder equity method 819,643 -
Acquisilion of property, plant and equipment {2y { 0o G0y o 63,4233
Froceeds [rom disposal of properly. planl axod
ecpupment 42 3
Acquisilion of inlangible asscls G20 ( SA6,281 ) 183,193 )
Procecds [Tom disposal of intangible assels 14,137 =
Dhecrease (neresse ) in relundable depoesits 1 R 2LUR8
Met cash flows used in iwmvesting activities i S92, 101y o 113,228 )
CASIFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
[decrease i short-term borowings 629 -0 2,533 }
Payments of Tease lialilities {24 i 18,919y ¢ 18, 7530:)
Repayment of long-term debt {24y i w000 o 166, 006G
Cash dividends paid G 18 { BT AER Y o TR, 0T
Met cash Mows used in Anamcing activilies i R A T 0R3,246 )
Med {deercase ) inerease in cash and cash coquivalents { R, AEE ) 245,615
Cash and cash equivalents at bepinning of year 735,321 475,705
Cash and cash equivalents at end of vear L &5 Y45 4 725,421

The accompanving notes are an mtegral part of these parent company only financial statements.
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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
2022 Earnings Distribution

Unit: NTD $
Item Value

Earnings undistributed at the beginning of 952,769,624
the reporting period
Add: Adjustments to long-term equity (28,410,198)
investment

: Other combined gains and losses 8,011,466

: Other combined gains and losses (24,439,906)

transferred retained earnings
Add: After-tax net profit for the year 1,279,696,291
Earnings available for distribution at the 2,188,227,277
end of this period
Provision of 10% as legal reserve (123,545,765)
Reversal of special surplus reserves 66,003,001
Earnings available for distribution for this
period 2,130,684,513
Distribution: Cash dividends (NT$5.8 per 1,017,862,723
share)
Eamlggs und_lstrlbuted at the end of the 1,112.821,790
reporting period

Note: Subject to the principles of the Company’s Statement for Earnings
Distribution, priorities shall be given to distributable earnings in 2022.

Chairman of the Board: Liu, Po-Yuan  Manager: Liu, Po-Yuan Head of Accounting: Su, Hsin-Hung
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Candidate List of Directors (Including Independent Directors)

Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.

Nomination by the Board of Directors

Position] Name | Major education background Occupation Number of

shares held

Director| Liu, Po- | Department of Mechanical | Chairman and CEO of Gamania Digital Entertainment 17,491,305
Yuan | Engineering, Hwa Hsia Co., Ltd.

University of Technology

Executive Manager of
FULLJIHN Machinery

Chairman of Hong Kong-based Gamania Digital
Entertainment Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania Digital Entertainment (Beijing)
Co., Ltd.

Chairman of FUNdation DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT
Co., Ltd.

Director of Taiwan Electronic Sports Co., Ltd.
Chairman of DIGICENTRE COMPANY LIMITED
Chairman of Jollybuy Digital Technology Co., Ltd.
Chairman of TWO TIGERS CO., LTD.

Chairman of Gash Point (Japan) Co., Ltd.

Director of Gash Point (Hong Kong) Company Limited.
Chairman of Gash Point (Korea) Co.,Ltd.

Chairman of Indiland Co., Ltd.

Chairman of ANTS’ POWER CO., LTD.

Director of First Order Advertising Production Co., Ltd.
Chairman of COTURE NEW MEDIA CO., LTD.
Chairman of Joymobee Entertainment Company Limited
Chairman of Gamania Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania International Holdings Ltd.
Chairman of Gamania China Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania Sino Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gash Point Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania Asia Investment Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Gamania Cheer Up Foundation, New Taipei
City

Director of Wanin International

Chairman of GAMA PAY CO., LTD.

Chairman of CONETTER COMARKETING CO., LTD.
Chairman of WEBACKERS CO., LTD.

Chairman of Xiangsheng Investment Co., Ltd.

Director of HaPod Digital Technology Co., Ltd
Chairman of Jollywiz Digital Technology Co., Ltd.
Director of Achieve Made International (BVI)

Director of Gungho Gamania Co., Limited

Chairman of BEANGO CO., LTD.

Chairman of CIIRCO, INC.

Chairman of CHINA POST

Director of Marais Home Furnishings Selection Co., Ltd.
Director of Digicentre (HK) Company Limited
Director of Dreamer Entertainment Production Co., Ltd
Supervisor of Huaqun Intellectual Property Co., Ltd.
Supervisor of Shih Ho Co., Ltd.

Supervisor of Mengxin Chuangchuang Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Bjolly Digital Corporation Ltd.

Chairman of NOWNEWS NETWORK CO., LTD.
Director of Best-Time Technology Co., Ltd.

Director of Lien Fan Dream Entertainment Culture
International Co., Ltd

Supervisor of Lok Tao International Catering Co., Ltd.
Director of Perak International Multimedia Corp.
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Position Name Major education Occupation Number of
background shares held
Director Lin, Hsien-Ming | Bachelor of Electronic | Chairman and CSO of WISTRON CORPORATION| 0
Computer and Control | Chairman of Wiwynn Corporation
Engineering, National |Chairman of Wistron Digital Technology Holding
Chiao Tung University | Company
Independent Director of ELAN
President of ACER MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
INCORPORATED Independent Director of Powerchip Semiconductor
Manufacturing Corporation
Director | Wanin International |Ling Tung University | Director of Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd| Shares held
Representative: Hsiao Chairman and President of Wanin International by legal
Cheng-Hao Chairman and President entities:
of Wanin International 15,101,000
Shares held
by the
representative
:0
Independen Sheng, Bao-Si | Bachelor of Economics | Independent Director of Gamania Digital 0
Director of University of Entertainment Co., Ltd.
California - Berkeley |Chairman and President of BORA
PHARMACEUTICALS CO., LTD.
Chairman and President| Director of WELLPOOL CO., LTD.
of BORA Chairman of UNION CHEMICAL &
PHARMACEUTICALY PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.
CO.,LTD. Chairman of Baolei Co. Ltd.
Chairman of Bao En International Co., Ltd.
Independent Director of BIONET CORP.
Chairman of Rui Bao Xing Investment Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Bora Health Inc.
Chairman of Bora Pharmaceutical Laboratories Inc.
Chairman of Jia Xi International Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Bora Management Consulting Co., Ltd|
Chairman of Bora Biotech Ltd.
Chairman of Jingde Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
Chairman of An Cheng International Pharmaceutica
Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Baofeng Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
Person in charge of Bora Pharmaceuticals USA Inc.
Person in charge of Bora Pharmaceuticals Services
Inc.
Independen Lin, Ruei-Yi Master of Business Independent Director of Gamania Digital 0
Director Administration of Entertainment Co., Ltd.
George Washington Chairman of STARTRII CO., LTD.
University Director of Shun Yi Investment Co., Ltd.
Director of SHUNG YE TRADING CO., LTD.
President of SHUNG | Director of Lien Chen Automotive Co., Ltd.
YE TRADING CO., |Independent Director of BORA
LTD. PHARMACEUTICALS CO., LTD.
Independen Chen, Kuan-Pai | Master of University of | Independent Director of Gamania Digital 0
Director Southern California Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Bai Chuan International Investment
Chairman of Bai Chuan| Co., Ltd.
International Investmen| Director of Bora Pharmaceuticals
Co., Ltd. Independent Director of Mercuries Data Systems
Ltd.
Independen Hou, Chia-Qi Master/PhD of Chairman of Milton International Corp. 0
Director Department of Chairman of Hanshin Shopping Center Co., Ltd.
Biological Engineering,| Chairman of Hanshin Brands & Co., Ltd.
Stanford University Chairman of Chongshen Development Co., Ltd.
Master of Applied Chairman of Arquez Sports Culture Co., Ltd.
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Computing, Harvard | Chairman of Xing Zhonghe Investment Co., Ltd

University Director of Kuo Yang Industrial Co., Ltd.
BS of Applied Director of Ji Yang Construction Development Co.,
Mathematics and Ltd

Chemical Engineering, | Director of Hanshin Asset Management Co., Ltd
The Johns Hopkins Director of Hi-Lai International Hotel Co., Ltd.
University Director of Epoch Times International Co., Ltd

Senior Research
Scientist of Pfizer

Nomination by the Board of Directors
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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
The Motion List for Termination of the Non-Competition Restriction
Imposed on New Directors and Their Representatives

Position

Name

Company Name and Job Title

Director

Liu, Po-Yuan

Chairman of Hong Kong-based Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Gamania Digital Entertainment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
Chairman of FUNdation DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT Co., Ltd.
Director of Taiwan Electronic Sports Co., Ltd.

Chairman of DIGICENTRE COMPANY LIMITED

Chairman of Jollybuy Digital Technology Co., Ltd.

Chairman of TWO TIGERS CO., LTD.

Chairman of Gash Point (Japan) Co., Ltd.

Director of Gash Point (Hong Kong) Company Limited.
Chairman of Gash Point (Korea) Co.,Ltd.

Chairman of Indiland Co., Ltd.

Chairman of ANTS’ POWER CO., LTD.

Director of First Order Advertising Production Co., Ltd.
Chairman of COTURE NEW MEDIA CO., LTD.

Chairman of Joymobee Entertainment Company Limited
Chairman of Gamania Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania International Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania China Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania Sino Holdings Ltd.

Chairman of Gash Point Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania Asia Investment Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Gamania Cheer Up Foundation, New Taipei City
Director of Wanin International

Chairman of GAMA PAY CO., LTD.

Chairman of CONETTER COMARKETING CO., LTD.
Chairman of WEBACKERS CO., LTD.

Chairman of Xiangsheng Investment Co., Ltd.

Director of HaPod Digital Technology Co., Ltd

Chairman of Jollywiz Digital Technology Co., Ltd.

Director of Achieve Made International (BVI)

Director of Gungho Gamania Co., Limited

Chairman of BEANGO CO., LTD.

Chairman of CIIRCO, INC.

Chairman of CHINA POST

Director of Marais Home Furnishings Selection Co., Ltd.
Director of Digicentre (HK) Company Limited

Director of Dreamer Entertainment Production Co., Ltd
Supervisor of Huaqun Intellectual Property Co., Ltd.
Supervisor of Shih Ho Co., Ltd.

Supervisor of Mengxin Chuangchuang Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Bjolly Digital Corporation Ltd.

Chairman of NOWNEWS NETWORK CO., LTD.

Director of Best-Time Technology Co., Ltd.

Director of Lien Fan Dream Entertainment Culture International Co., Ltd
Supervisor of Lok Tao International Catering Co., Ltd.

Director of Perak International Multimedia Corp.
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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
The Motion List for Termination of the Non-Competition Restriction

Imposed on New Directors and Their Representatives

Position

Name

Company Name and Job Title

Director

Lin, Hsien-Ming

Chairman and CSO of WISTRON CORPORATION

Chairman of Wiwynn Corporation

Chairman of Wistron Digital Technology Holding Company

Independent Director of ELAN MICROELECTRONICS CORPORATION
Independent Director of Powerchip Semiconductor Manufacturing
Corporation

Director

Wanin International
Representative: Hsiao,
Cheng-Hao

Chairman and President of Wanin International

Independent
Director

Sheng, Bao-Si

Chairman and President of BORA PHARMACEUTICALS CO., LTD.
Director of WELLPOOL CO., LTD.

Chairman of UNION CHEMICAL & PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.
Chairman of Baolei Co. Ltd.

Chairman of Bao En International Co., Ltd.

Independent Director of BIONET CORP.

Chairman of Rui Bao Xing Investment Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Bora Health Inc.

Chairman of Bora Pharmaceutical Laboratories Inc.

Chairman of Jia Xi International Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Bora Management Consulting Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Bora Biotech Ltd.

Chairman of Jingde Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Chairman of An Cheng International Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Baofeng Biotechnology Co., Ltd.

Person in charge of Bora Pharmaceuticals USA Inc.

Person in charge of Bora Pharmaceuticals Services Inc.

Independent
Director

Lin, Ruei-Yi

Chairman of STARTRII CO., LTD.

Director of Shun Yi Investment Co., Ltd.

Director of SHUNG YE TRADING CO., LTD.

Director of Lien Chen Automotive Co., Ltd.

Independent Director of BORA PHARMACEUTICALS CO., LTD.

Independent
Director

Chen, Kuan-Pai

Chairman of Bai Chuan International Investment Co., Ltd.
Director of Bora Pharmaceuticals
Independent Director of Mercuries Data Systems Ltd.

Independent
Director

Hou, Chia-Qi

Chairman of Zhuo Chia Industrial Co., Ltd.

Chairman of GIC Corporation

Chairman of Hanshin Shopping Center Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Xing Zhonghe Investment Co., Ltd
Chairman of Chongshen Development Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Lianzhong International Asset Management Co., Ltd.
Chairman of Hanshin Brands & Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Milton International Corp.

Chairman of Hsueh Wing Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Arquez Sports Culture Co., Ltd.

Chairman of Hanyang Global Corporation

Director of Kuo Yang Industrial Co., Ltd.

Director of Xin Xi International Co., Ltd.

Director of Hanshin Investment Co., Ltd.

Director of Xin Xiu Venture Co., Ltd.

Director of Epoch Times International Co., Ltd
Director of Hi-Lai International Hotel Co., Ltd.
Director of Hanwei Arena Development Co., Ltd
Director of Ji Yang Construction Development Co., Ltd
Director of Fei Ruiqi Creative Video Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Director of Hanshin Asset Management Co., Ltd
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Article 1:

Article 2:

Article 2-1:

Article 3:

Article 4:

Article 5:

Article 5-1:

Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Articles of Incorporation

Chapter 1 General Provisions

The Company is organized according to the Company Act, and is named Gamania
Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
(GAMANIA DIGITAL ENTERTAINMENT CO., LTD. in English)

The Company’s business is as follows:

1. Trading of various computer software and hardware.

2. Design, planning, trading, and agency of various industrial and commercial
machinery and equipment.

3. Output of machinery and equipment across the plant.

4. General import and export business. (Except for those that are subject to special
approval)

5. Bidding and quotation for products on behalf of domestic and foreign

manufacturers.

1401010 General Advertising Services.

J503020 TV Program Production.

J503030 Broadcasting and Television Program Distribution.

9. J503040 Broadcasting and Television Commercial

10. JZ99050 Agency Services

11. CCO01050 - Data Storage and Processing Equipment Manufacturing.

12. 1301010 Information Software Services.

13. J303010 Magazine (Periodical) Publishing.

14. 7799999 All business items that are not prohibited or restricted by law, except
those that are subject to special approval.

®° =N

If the Company needs to provide guarantees and make investments in other business,
the total amount of investment shall not be limited to 40% of the paid-up share
capital of the Company as set out in Article 13 of the Company Act.

The Company is headquartered in Taipei City. If necessary, it will establish
subsidiaries or offices at home and abroad by the resolution of the Board of Directors.

(Deleted).

Chapter 2 Shares

The total capital of the Company is NTD 2.5 billion, divided into 250 million shares
at NTD 10 per share, which may be issued partially, including NTD 220 million,
divided into 22 million shares of NTD 10 per share, which are reserved for the
issuance of stock warrants, and unissued shares will be issued in such number and at
such time as the Board of Directors may determine as necessary in the future.

Transfer of shares to employees at an average price lower than the actual repurchase
price by the Company shall be approved by votes of at least two-thirds of the
shareholders representing more than half of the Company’s outstanding shares who
are present at the recent general meeting.

Stock warrants shall not be issued to employees at a subscription price lower than the
closing price for the ordinary shares issued by a Japanese company unless approved
by votes of at least two-thirds of the shareholders representing more than half of the
Company’s outstanding shares which are present at a shareholders’ meeting.
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Article 5-2:

Article 6:

Article 7:

Article 7-1:

Article 8:

Article 9:

Article 9-1:

Article 10:

Article 11:

Article 12:

The treasury stocks bought by the Company in accordance with the Company Act
may be transferred to (including) the employees under the control of or affiliated
with the Company who meet the conditions of the transfer.

Stock warrants may be issued by the Company to (including) the employees under
the control of or affiliated with the Company who meet the conditions of subscription.
When new shares are issued by the Company, the employees who subscribe new
shares include those under the control of or affiliated with the Company who meet
the conditions of subscription.

Targets to which the Company issues new shares that restrict employees’ rights
include the employees under the control of or affiliated with the Company who meet
the conditions of subscription.

For the transfer of shares, both parties shall fill in an application for transfer of shares,
and the holder of shares shall apply to the Company for transfer of names. The
transfer of shares shall not become effective unless recorded in the Company’s
register of members.

The Company shall issue registered shares only. They shall be issued according to
law after being signed or sealed by three or more directors, numbered, and certified
by the competent authority or the authorized registration authority. The shares issued
by the Company are exempt from printing, but should be registered with the
securities centralized storage institutions.

The Company’s registered shares must be registered in the names of shareholders. If
they are owners of legal persons, names of such legal persons shall be registered; the
names of the shareholders, representatives, and domiciles shall be entered into the
register of members; in the case of a share registered in the names of two or more
holders, one of them shall be elected as a representative.

The transfer of shares shall be suspended within 60 days prior to the date of each
general meeting, or within 30 days prior to the date of an extraordinary meeting, or
within 5 days before the record date when the Company decides to distribute
dividends and bonuses or other benefits.

Chapter 3 Shareholders’ Meeting

The meetings of shareholders will be divided into general meetings and extraordinary
meetings. A general meeting will be held at least once a year by the Board of
Directors, according to the law, within six months after the end of each fiscal year.
Extraordinary meetings may be called for as needed by law.

The shareholders’ meeting can be held by means of a visual communication network
or other methods promulgated by the Ministry of Economic Affairs.

When a shareholder is unable to attend the meeting for any reason, he/she shall issue
a power of attorney issued by the Company, stating the scope of authorization and
designating a proxy to attend on his/her behalf in accordance with the Company Act
and the Rules Governing the Use of Proxies for Attendance at Shareholder Meetings
of Public Companies promulgated by the competent authorities.

A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except for such
circumstances as may be stipulated in Article 179 of the Company Act.

Unless otherwise provided for by the Act, a resolution shall be adopted at a meeting
of shareholders at which the shareholders representing a majority of outstanding
shares are present by a majority of the votes represented by the attending
shareholders. A shareholder may also exercise voting rights electronically, and those
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Article 13:

Article 13-1:

Article 13-2:

Article 14:

Article 15:

Article 16:

who exercise voting rights in such way will be deemed present at the shareholders’
meeting in person in accordance with the laws and regulations.

Chapter 4 Directors

The Company has 5-9 directors, including at least 3 Independent Directors, all of
whom are elected at the meeting of shareholders from capable persons. They will
serve for a term of three years, and may be re-elected following appointment. The
total number of registered shares in the Company held by all the directors shall be
subject to the Rules and Review Procedures for Director and Supervisor Share
Ownership Ratios at Public Companies promulgated by the competent authority.

The Company may take out insurance against the liability for damages to be assumed
by the directors within the scope of business during their tenure in accordance with
the law.

Directors shall be elected by way of nomination of candidates as set out in Article
192-1 of Taiwan’s Company Act. The nomination and announcement of directors
shall be accepted in accordance with Taiwan’s Company Act, Securities and
Exchange Act and other relevant regulations.

Directors whether independent or not shall be elected together to calculate the
number of elected candidates.

The Company will set up an Audit Committee in accordance with the provisions of
Article 14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act. The Audit Committee shall consist
of all Independent Directors, who are responsible for the performance of the duties
set out in Taiwan’s Company Act, Securities and Exchange Act and other relevant
regulations.

The Board of Directors shall be composed of directors. More than two-thirds of
directors present at a meeting of the Board of Directors shall elect one of their
members to be chairman of the Board by the majority of votes of the directors. One
person can be selected as the vice chairman of the Board in the same way. The
chairman of the Board acts on behalf the Company. In case the chairman is on leave
or cannot exercise his/her power and authority for any cause, the vice chairman shall
act on his/her behalf in accordance with Article 208 of the Company Act.

Meetings of the Board of Directors are convened and chaired by the chairman of the
Board. Except for the first meetings of the Board of Directors, in accordance with the
provisions of Article 203,Paragraph 4 or Article 203-1, Paragraph 3 of the Company
Act, meetings of the Board of Directors are convened by a majority of directors, and
chaired in accordance with relevant regulations.

Except as otherwise provided for by the Company Act, resolutions of the Board shall
be approved by more than half of the votes of the Directors present at a Board
meeting attended by at least two-thirds of all Directors. If a director is unable to
attend the meeting for any reason, it shall issue a power of attorney in accordance
with the provisions of Article 205 of the Company Act to appoint another director to
attend the meeting on his/her behalf, provided that only one person shall be
appointed.

In case a meeting of the Board of Directors is proceeded via visual communication
network, then the directors taking part in such a visual communication meeting shall
be deemed to have attended the meeting in person.

The Board of Directors is authorized to determine the remuneration for all the
directors based on the degree of participation in and contribution to the operation of
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Article 17:

Article 17-1:

Article 18:

Article 19:
Article 20:

Article 20-1:

Article 21:

Article 22:

the Company, and with reference to the generally-accepted industry standards.

Chapter 5 Managers

The Company may have a manager for whom the appointment, dismissal and
remuneration shall be handled in accordance with the provisions of Article 29 of the
Company Act.

The Company may authorize the Board of Directors to appoint legal, accounting,
business and technical consultants in light of business needs.

Chapter 6 Accounting

The following documents shall be prepared by the Board of Directors after the end of
each fiscal year: 1. Business Report; 2. Financial Statements; and 3. Proposal for
Earnings Distribution or allowance for losses which shall be submitted at the general
shareholders’ meeting for ratification.

(Deleted).

For pre-tax profits of the Company for the current period, 10% to 15% of the profits
will be set aside to pay employee remuneration, and no more than 2% of profits will
be set aside to pay remuneration for directors. The Company shall appropriate for
write-off the loss carried forward, if applicable.

If there are surpluses in the Company’s annual final accounts, taxes and previous
losses shall be paid out of such surpluses first. 10% of them shall be set aside as
statutory surplus reserves. However, this clause shall not apply if the statutory
surplus reserves have reached the paid-in capital of the Company. In addition, special
surplus reserves will be set aside in light of business needs and according to law, for
surpluses (if any) and the undistributed earnings at the beginning of the period, the
Board of Directors shall propose a statement for distribution of earnings, and submit
it to the shareholders’ meeting for resolution.

The Company’s dividend policy adopts the principle of sound balance, taking into
account factors such as profitability, financial structure and the Company’s future
development, and at least 10% of the dividends distributed in the current year will be
set aside to pay cash dividends.

Chapter 7 Supplementary Provisions

The matters not covered by the Articles of Association shall be dealt with in
accordance with the provisions of the Company Act.

These Articles were made effective as of May 26, 1995.
The 1st amendment hereto was made on March 9, 1998.
The 2nd amendment hereto was made on April 7, 1999.
The 3rd amendment hereto was made on September 20, 1999.
The 4th amendment hereto was made on October 8, 1999.
The 5th amendment hereto was made on March 24, 2000.
The 6th amendment hereto was made on July 28, 2000.
The 7th amendment hereto was made on May 22, 2001.
The 8th amendment hereto was made on January 31, 2002.
The 9th amendment hereto was made on June 3, 2002.
The 10th amendment hereto was made on April 28, 2003.
The 11th amendment hereto was made on April 29, 2004.
The 12th amendment hereto was made on June 14, 2005.
The 13th amendment hereto was made on June 14, 2006.
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The 14th amendment hereto was made on June 13, 2007.
The 15th amendment hereto was made on June 13, 2008.
The 16th amendment hereto was made on June 10, 2009.
The 17th amendment hereto was made on June 9, 2010.
The 18th amendment hereto was made on June 19, 2013.
The 19th amendment hereto was made on June 16, 2016.
The 20th amendment hereto was made on June 8, 2017.
The 21st amendment hereto was made on June 13, 2018.
The 22nd amendment hereto was made on May 29, 2019.
The 23rd amendment hereto was made on June 17, 2020.
The 24th amendment hereto was made on June 16, 2022.
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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meetings

The Rules of Procedure for Shareholders’ Meetings, except as otherwise provided for by laws,
regulations, or the articles of association, shall be as specified in these Rules.

For shareholders’ meetings, the Company shall have a visitors’ book for the attending
shareholders to sign in, or the attending shareholders shall issue the sign-in cards instead.
The number of shares held by the shareholders attending the meeting shall be calculated in
accordance with the records of the visitors’ book or attendance cards submitted by the
shareholders.

For each shareholders’ meeting, a shareholder may appoint a proxy to attend the meeting by
providing the proxy form issued by the Company and stating the scope of the proxy’s
authorization.

A shareholders’ meeting shall be convened at the place where the Company is located or at
such places convenient for attendance by shareholders and suitable for convention. The
meeting shall not begin earlier than 9:00 a.m or later than 3:00 p.m.

If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of
Directors will be the chairperson of the meeting. In case the Chairman of the Board of
Directors is on leave or absent or can not exercise his power and authority for any cause, the
vice chairman shall act on his behalf. In case there is no vice chairman, or the vice chairman is
also on leave or absent or unable to exercise his power and authority for any cause, the
chairman of the board of directors shall designate one of the managing directors, or where
there is no managing directors, one of the directors to act on his behalf. In the absence of such
a designation, the managing directors or the directors shall elect from among themselves an
acting chairman of the board of directors.

If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by any person entitled to convene the meeting other
than a member of the Board, such person shall preside at the meeting.

The Company may appoint the designated counsel, CPA or other related persons to attend the
meeting.

A shareholders’ meeting shall, unless otherwise provided for in laws and regulations, be
convened by the Board of Directors. The Company shall prepare and upload to the Market
Observation Post System (MOPS) the electronic versions of the meeting notice, proxy form,
the relevant proposals for ratification, matters for resolution, election or dismissal of directors
and other matters on the meeting agenda, and the explanatory materials relating thereto 30
days before a general shareholders’ meeting or 15 days before an extraordinary shareholders’
meeting. The electronic versions of the shareholders’ meeting handbook and supplementary
materials for the meeting shall be uploaded to the Market Observation Post System (MOPS) 21
days before a general shareholders’ meeting or 15 days before an extraordinary shareholders’
meeting. Fifteen days prior to the shareholders’ meeting, the Meeting Handbook and
supplementary materials for the meeting shall be properly prepared and be available for
retrieval by shareholders at any time and they shall be displayed at the Company and the
professional shareholder service agent authorized by the Company and be distributed on the
floor of the shareholders’ meeting.
The cause(s) or subject(s) of a meeting to be convened shall be indicated in the individual
notice and announcement; and the notice may, as an alternative, be given by means of
electronic transmission, after obtaining a prior consent from the recipient(s) thereof.
The following matters shall be set out in the notice of the reasons for convening a
shareholders’ meeting, and shall not be proposed as ad hoc motions; the main contents of the
following matters shall be placed on the website designated by the securities competent
authority or the Company, with the website address stated in the notice: Election or dismissal
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of directors; amendments to the Articles of Association; reduction of capital, applying for the
cessation of its status as a public company; discharge of directors from non-compete clauses;
capital increase out of earnings or reserves; dissolution, merger or spin-off of the Company; or
any matter under Article 185-1 of the Company Act.

Shareholder(s) holding one percent or more of the total number of outstanding shares may
propose to the Company a proposal for discussion at a general shareholders’ meeting. Where a
proposal contains more than one matter, such proposal shall not be included in the agenda. The
Board of Directors shall include the proposals put forward by shareholders for urging the
Company to promote the public interest or to fulfill its social responsibilities in the agenda. In
addition, if any subparagraph of Article 172-1, paragraph 4 of Taiwan’s Company Act applies
to a proposal put forward by a shareholder, the BOD may exclude it from the agenda.

Prior to the date on which share transfer is suspended before the convention of a general
shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall give a public notice announcing the place and the
period for shareholders to submit proposals to be discussed at the general shareholders’
meeting in writing or in electronic form; and the period for accepting such proposals shall not
be less than ten (10) days. The number of words of a proposal to be submitted by a shareholder
shall be limited to not more than three hundred (300) words; any one exceeding the limit will
not be included in the agenda. The shareholder who has submitted a proposal shall attend, in
person or by a proxy, the general shareholders’ meeting whereat his proposal is to be discussed
and shall take part in the discussion of such proposal.

The Company shall have the entire sign-in process, the process of a general shareholders’
meeting, and the voting and count of votes tape-recorded or videotaped from the time of
accepting the registration for attendance by shareholders.

These tapes shall be preserved for at least one year. However, if a lawsuit has been instituted
by any shareholder in accordance with Article 189 of the Company Act, the minutes of the
shareholders’ meeting involved shall be kept by the company until the legal proceedings of the
foregoing lawsuit have been concluded.

The attendance at shareholders’ meetings shall be calculated by the number of shares
represented.

When the start time of the meeting is due, the chairperson shall call the meeting to order. When
the total number of outstanding shares represented falls short of a majority, however, the
chairperson may announce that the meeting will be postponed. Such postponement is limited
twice only and the time involved in the postponements combined may not exceed one hour. If
after two postponements, the number of shares represented by the attending shareholders has
not constituted more than one-third of outstanding shares, a tentative resolution may be passed
in accordance with paragraph 1 of Article 175 of the Company Act. Before the meeting is
completed, if the number of shares represented by attending shareholders already reaches a
majority of the total outstanding shares, the chairperson may bring forth a tentative resolution
made to be voted on again as required by Article 174 of the Company Act.

The agenda of a shareholders’ meeting shall be set by the Board of Directors, and relevant
motions (including ad hoc motions and amendments to the original motions) should be voted
on a case-by-case basis if the meeting is convened by the Board of Directors. Unless otherwise
resolved at the meeting, the meeting shall proceed in accordance with the agenda.

The above provision applies mutatis mutandis to the cases where the meeting is convened by
any person, other than a member of the Board of Directors, who is entitled to convene such
meeting.

Unless otherwise resolved at the shareholders’ meeting, the chairman may not announce
adjournment of the meeting before all the discussions (including ad hoc motions) listed in the
agenda are resolved. The shareholders cannot designate any other person as chairman and
continue a shareholders’ meeting in the same or other place after the meeting is adjourned;
However, in the event that the chairman adjourns a shareholders’ meeting in violation of these
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10.

I1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Procedural Procedures, one person shall be elected as chairman to continue the meeting by a
majority of votes represented by the shareholders attending the meeting.

Before an attending shareholder speaks, it is a requirement to first complete the speech note
specifying highlights of his/her speech, the shareholder’s account number (or the Attendance
ID number) and name. The chairperson will decide the sequential order by which he/she may
speak.

When an attending shareholder only presents the speech note without speaking, it is considered
that the shareholder has not spoken. When the information provided in the speech differs from
that in the speech note, the actual speech delivered shall prevail.

While an attending shareholder speaks, unless having obtained permissions from the
chairperson and the speaking shareholder, other shareholders may not speak and interfere with
the speech. The chairperson shall stop any violator.

Unless otherwise permitted by the chairman, each shareholder shall not speak more than twice
concerning the same item, and each speech shall not last more than 5 minutes. In case the
speech of any shareholder violates the preceding paragraph or exceeds the scope of the agenda,
the chairman may stop the speech of such shareholder.

When an institutional shareholder sends more than two people to attend a shareholders’
meeting, for the same proposal, only one of them may speak.

After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chairperson may reply in person or designate
someone to reply.

The Chairman may announce to end the discussion of any resolution and put it to the vote if
he/she deems it appropriate, and reserve adequate voting time.

Scrutineers and vote counters for proposals put to the vote are to be assigned by the Chairman.
The scrutineers, however, shall be shareholders.
The results of voting shall be reported on the spot and placed on record.

When a meeting is in progress, the chairperson may announce a break if appropriate. If a force
majeure event occurs, the chairperson may rule the meeting temporarily suspended and
announce a time when, in view of the circumstances, the meeting will be resumed.

A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except when the shares are
restricted shares or are deemed non-voting shares under Article 179, paragraph 2 of the
Company Act.

Except as otherwise specified in the Company Act or in the Articles of Association of the
Company, a resolution shall be adopted by a majority of the votes represented by the
shareholders present at the shareholders’ meeting.

When voting, it is considered that a proposal is approved if no dissenting opinions are raised
upon inquiries from the chairperson. The power shall be identical to that having been voted on.
Besides the proposals included in the agenda, other proposals introduced on one proposal or an
amendment or alternative to an existing proposal introduced by shareholders shall be
supported by other shareholders. The shares held by the proposer along with the endorser(s)
combined shall account for 1% of all voting rights of outstanding shares.

When there is an amendment or an alternative to one proposal, the chairperson shall decide the
sequential order it is voted on along with the original proposal. If one of them has been
approved, the other proposals are considered to have been vetoed; no additional voting is
required.

Election of directors and appointment date set out in the notice of the reasons for convening a
shareholders’ meeting shall be subject to the applicable election rules adopted by the Company,
and the voting results shall be announced on-site immediately. The appointment date shall not
be changed by ad hoc motions or otherwise at the said shareholders’ meeting.

The matters resolved at a shareholders’ meeting shall be recorded in the meeting minutes. The
meeting minutes shall be signed or sealed by the chairperson of the meeting and a copy shall
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18.

19.

20.

21.

be distributed to each shareholder within 20 days after the conclusion of the meeting. The
meeting minutes may be produced and distributed in electronic form.

The distribution of the meeting minutes in the foregoing paragraph may be announced as
indicated in the MOPS. The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, date, and
place of the meeting, the chair’s full name, the methods by which resolutions were adopted,
and a summary of the deliberations and their results ((including statistical weight), and shall be
retained for the duration of the existence of the Company; if directors are selected, the number
of votes for each candidate should be disclosed. The meeting minutes shall be retained for the
duration of the existence of the Company.

On the day of a shareholder’s meeting, the Company shall explicitly disclose the number of
shares obtained by solicitors through solicitation and the number of shares represented by
proxies at the place of the meeting.

The persons transacting affairs of the meeting shall wear identification cards or badges.

The chairman may direct inspectors (or security guards) to assist in keeping order at the
meeting venue. Such inspectors or security guards shall wear badges marked with “Inspectors”
for identification purpose to assist in keeping order at the meeting venue. Shareholders who
violate the Rules of Procedure and do not obey correction by the chairperson and do not stop
interfering with the meeting may be asked to leave the venue by the inspector or security guard
as instructed by the chairperson.

These Rules shall be implemented after being approved by a shareholders’ meeting, and the
same shall apply to any amendments thereto.

These Rules of Procedure were prepared on June 14, 2006.
The first amendment hereto was made on June 22, 2012
The second amendment hereto was made on June 17, 2020
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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Procedures for Election of Directors

Except as otherwise specified in Taiwan’s Company Act and in the Articles of Association of
the Company, directors of the Company shall be elected in accordance with these Procedures.

When directors are elected by the Company, the number of votes exercisable in respect of one
Share shall be the same as the number of directors to be elected, and the total number of votes
per share may be consolidated for the election of one candidate or may be split for the election
of two or more candidates. Directors shall be elected by way of nomination of candidates.
Directors whether independent or not shall be elected together to calculate the number of
elected candidates.

The directors of the Company shall be elected at general meetings at which the Company shall
produce ballots attached voting rights, and distribute the same to the shareholders present at
the meetings.

Before the start of the election, the chairman shall designate a number of scrutineers and tellers
to perform related duties. The scrutineera may be appointed among the shareholders present.

A ballot box for election of directors shall be provided by the Company, and shall be publicly
inspected by the scrutineers before the voting.

If an electee is a shareholder, the elector must fill in the “electee” column on each ballot with
the electee’s account name, shareholder account number, and the number of votes cast; if not,
the elector shall specify the name and identity card number of the candidate and the number of
votes voted. However, when the government or legal person shareholder is elected, the
“electee” column on each ballot shall be filled out with the name of the government or legal
person, as well as the name of their representative.

Ballots are invalid under any of the following circumstances:
(1) Ballots not prepared by the Company.

(2) A blank ballot is put in the ballot box.

(3) The handwriting is unrecognizable or altered.

(4) When the electee on a ballot is a shareholder, his/her account name and shareholder
account number do not conform to the Register of Shareholders. If the electee on a ballot
is not a shareholder, his name and identity card number are found to be inconsistent.

(5) A ballot contains other information other than the electee’s account name (full name) or
shareholder account number (unified identity card number) and number of votes
distributed.

(6) The electee’s account name (full name) or account number (uniform ID card number) is
not filled out on the ballot.

(7) The total votes cast by the elector exceeds the total votes he held.

(8) The number of candidates filled out on the ballot exceeds the number of candidates to be
elected.

The directors of the Company are elected at the meeting of shareholders from capable persons.
A candidate to whom the ballots cast represent a prevailing number of votes shall be deemed a
director so elected based on the number of directors determined in the Articles of Incorporation.
If votes cast for more than two candidates (inclusive) are the same and more than the stipulated
quota, the voting results will be decided by lottery. Lots will be drawn by the chairman of the
Board on behalf of those not present at the meeting.

The balloting shall be calculated on site immediately after the end of the voting, and the results
of the calculation shall be announced by the chairman on the spot.
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10. The elected directors shall be issued a notice of election by the Company.

11. These Procedures shall be implemented after approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting, and the
same requirements shall be applied to amendments thereto.

These Procedures were made effective as of March 17, 2002

Ist Amendment made on May 29, 2019
The 2nd amendment was made on June 17, 2020.
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Gamania Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd.
Shareholding by All Directors

April 22,2023

Number of shares

Position Name held Holding ratio (%)
Chairman |Liu, Po-Yuan 17,491,305 9.97
Director Representatlve of Wanin International: 15,101,000 3.60
Hsiao, Cheng-Hao
Director  |Lin, Hsien-Ming 0 -
Representative of CLOUD COPIOUS
Director |INVESTMETN LIMITED: Chen, Shih- 1,005 -
Ying
Independent .
Director Sheng, Bao-Si 0 -
Independent |} i\ Ruei-vi 0 :
Director
Indqpendent Chen, Kuan-Pai 0 -
Director
Number and percentage of shares held by all the 32,593,310 18.57

directors (excluding Independent Directors)

Description:

1. The paid-in capital of the Company is NTD 1,754,935,730, and 175,493,573 shares have been

issued.

2. Asisrequired by Article 26 of the Securities and Exchange Act, the minimum number of

shares that shall be held by all directors is 10,529,615.
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